### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-01633

DORIS FRAZIER

VERSUS

JOYCE C. LOEW

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPEAL

## FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF

## HARRISON COUNTY, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT,

#### MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

WAYNE L. HENGEN HENGEN & HENGEN ATTORNEYS AT LAW 979 HOWARD AVENUE BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI 39530 (228) 374-7844 MISS. BAR

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NUMBER 2007-CA-01633

## DORIS FRAZIER VERSUS

JOYCE C. LOEW

#### APPELLANT

APPELLEE

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether or not a confidential relationship existed between JOYCE C. LOEW and the deceased, GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH.
- 2. Whether or not JOYCE C. LOEW abused the confidential relationship she had with the deceased, GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH.
- 3. Whether or not the issue regarding the existence of a confidential relationship between DORIS FRAZIER and the deceased, GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH, her brother, is relevant or material.
- 4. Whether or not a non-disclosed occurrence witness' testimony by way of proffer should be accepted by the Court.

1

i,

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature, Course, and Disposition of the Case

This is a contest of both inter vivos gifts and a will. On February 27, 2004, JOYCE C. LOEW offered for probate and an ORDER was entered admitting a document entitled Last Will and Testament of GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH. The document was dated January 24, 2001. On March 8, 2004, DORIS FRAZIER, sister of the deceased, filed her PETITION FOR CONTEST OF WILL AND FOR OTHER RELIEF.

DORIS alleged that the document is not the Will of her brother because among other reasons, it was executed under the undue influence of JOYCE C. LOEW, the sole beneficiary. DORIS sought the appointment of a Temporary Administrator which was not granted. She also alleged that certain inter vivos transfers were made benefiting JOYCE. DORIS alleged that JOYCE and GUS were in a confidential relationship giving rise automatically to a presumption of undue influence making the gifts presumptively invalid. No response was filed.

Following various hearings on motions, an ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION was entered on April 1, 2004, which among other provisions, enjoined JOYCE and her attorneys, among others, from dissipating the assets at issue. [This ORDER has been violated several times; the issue was presented to this Court by MOTION REGARDING TRIAL COURT INJUNCTION filed February 26, 2008. This Court denied the MOTION.]

INVENTORIES were filed by both parties as ordered by the Court. Following discovery, depositions, and other pre-trial matters, all interested parties appeared before the Court, and the issues were tried on October 18 and 19, 2006. At the conclusion of DORIS' case, counsel for JOYCE moved for a directed verdict. Arguments were made. The Court took the MOTION under advisement. The trial continued with JOYCE presenting the proffered testimony of a non-

disclosed witness who was objected to, and another witness. The Court then recessed. The Court then entered its JUDGMENT GRANTING INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL on January 24, 2007. On February 2, 2007, counsel for DORIS filed MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT on which JUDGMENT DENYING MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND was entered on August 21, 2007.

On September 18, 2007, NOTICE OF APPEAL was filed by DORIS.

#### Statement of the Facts

GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH executed two (2) documents purporting to be his Wills, one on August 21, 2000, and the other on January 24, 2001. (E: 36 and 1). It is the purported Will of 2001 that was admitted to probate and subsequently contested in the case sub judice.

By the prior Will of 2000, GUS left his two (2) estranged sons One Dollar each and everything else to his sister, DORIS. (E: 36). By the purported Will of 2001, he left everything to JOYCE with no mention of his sons or his sister.

GUS died on February 25, 2004. (T: 104). He was at that time 87 years old having been born on December 4, 1916. (E: 25, left column, "D.O.B. <u>12/14/1916</u>").

JOYCE and GUS began a relationship in August, 2000, following the death of his wife of some 40-45 years in June, 2000. (T: 205). JOYCE was in a longtime relationship with BUDDY HOLDER who died in July, 2000. (T: 47). She had been married three times before. (T: 45-46). At that time, JOYCE was 59, GUS was 84. She said, "Age don't matter". (T: 82). JOYCE resided in Pensacola, Florida. GUS' home was in Biloxi. Between August, 2000, and January, 2001, they dated, visiting back and forth and running up a \$200.00 phone bill. (T: 48, 52-53). JOYCE testified that during that time, GUS was feeling pretty down and depressed and did not care whether he lived or not. (T: 47-49). Also during that time, GUS grew to like and trust JOYCE. (T: 59). He bought her roses and gifts and paid her bills as set out in the SECOND AMENDED INVENTORY. (E: 8; T:61-62, 97-101). Even DORIS wrote a check at GUS' direction from his account to send to JOYCE. (T: 212).

GUS had heart problems, a pacemaker, knee problems, fluid build-up in his lungs, diabetes, and eye problems. He took medication for his medical problems. JOYCE accompanied him to the doctor and the hospital during that time. (T: 55-56).

Some four or five months into the relationship, GUS wanted JOYCE to quit her job as hostess and cashier at the Oyster Bar in Pensacola and be with him, and she would not have to do anything. In exchange, he would pay all of her bills. This was in January, 2001. (T: 62, 65).

As JOYCE said, "We was starting a relationship". (T: 65).

On Friday, January 19, 2001, GUS removed his sister, DORIS', name as a "Pay on Death" beneficiary and added JOYCE'S name as a joint owner of his existing savings account which had a balance on that day of \$16,571.89 from which a \$1,000.00 withdrawal was made. (E: 25 – may be mistakenly shown as E: 26 in the Exhibits; T: 128-130, 137). On the second page of that Exhibit, it can be seen that JOYCE signed her signature, which according to the testimony of VICKY COMPTON, Vice-President of Operations with Bancorp South, was required to be done at that Bank so that the Bank could identify her. (E: 25). JOYCE admitted being present. [JOYCE showed on this document that her birthdate was December 25, 1950, not 1940, her actual birthdate. She denied representing to GUS that she was only 49 years old. (T: 87-88).]

On the following Monday, January 22, 2001, a total of \$15,561.00 was withdrawn from this joint savings account leaving only \$10.89 in the account. (E: 25).

Then on Tuesday, January 23, 2001, GUS removed his sister, DORIS', name and added JOYCE'S name on his \$25,000.00 certificate of deposit. (E: 12, 24; T: 126-128). On that same date, he did the same thing with his \$125,000.00 certificate of deposit. (E: 13, 23; T: 122-125).

The following day, January 24, 2001, GUS made the purported Will leaving everything to JOYCE and leaving nothing to his sister, DORIS, the primary beneficiary in his prior Will of August 21, 2000. (E: 1, 36).

Two (2) days after that, on January 26, 2000, GUS' arrangements had been concluded to pay off JOYCE'S mortgage on her house. He paid \$11,788.06. (E: 10, 11; T: 72-74).

So, from August, 2000, through January 26, 2001, approximately five (5) months, an 84 year old man who was grieving the death of his wife of some 40-45 years and a woman from Florida who was 25 years younger than him began a relationship during which time she visited him and he visited her spending some \$200.00 a month talking on the phone. She quit her job. He paid all her bills. He paid off her mortgage. He put her name on a \$25,000.00 certificate of deposit and on a \$125,000.00 certificate of deposit. He added her name to his joint savings account in which there was more than \$16,500.00 and from which almost all was withdrawn, and he made her the sole beneficiary of his entire estate by the purported Will. (T: 78-79).

On January 31, 2002, approximately one year later, he gave her Power of Attorney. (E: 15).

Notwithstanding all of these transfers, JOYCE consistently took the position and understood that it was GUS' money and GUS' business. (T: 93, 96). According to JOYCE'S testimony, GUS was going to put her name on his accounts whether she agreed or not, that if she did not agree, he would find someone else. (T: 83, 95-96).

On November 29, 2001, GUS transferred his only vehicle to JOYCE, a 1995 Lincoln. (E: 18). For a period of time, he had no vehicle. (T: 102). He purchased another Lincoln, a 2000 model. On November 14, 2003, he put that one in JOYCE'S name too. (E: 19). JOYCE now had Gus' two (2) Lincolns, and Gus had no vehicle. She said he did not drive much, that she was driving it, mainly. She admitted though that when she would leave and go back to her home in Florida, he would be left by himself without any transportation. (T: 103).

On October 14, 2003, GUS transferred the last thing he owned, his home in Biloxi. He sold it for \$160,000.00, and JOYCE got the money. In fact, she was present at the closing in the attorney's office. (E: 28, 29; T: 110-114). The money was put in a joint account at the

Compass Bank in Pensacola. (T: 152-153). The Compass Bank is where JOYCE moved \$50,000.00 that GUS had previously given to her. (T: 152-153).

÷

JOYCE claimed in her testimony that she and GUS were engaged to be married, and that he bought her rings. However, no evidence was produced, nor did she show any rings. Asked at trial, no other witness knew about this. (T: 156-157).

The certificates of deposit and the savings account at BancorpSouth were moved to Keesler Federal Credit Union and deposited into joint savings accounts with JOYCE and GUS, and from there were moved to the Florida bank. (E: 20, 21; T: 160-161). From the Florida bank (Compass), the money was moved again after GUS' death and used to buy certificates of deposit in Tennessee in violation of the above referenced INJUNCTION. (T: 34-35).

Almost all of the above facts come from the testimony given by JOYCE, herself.

GUS' sister, DORIS, testified that she ordered his medicine and handled the government insurance held by GUS' wife, INEZ. She would make sure GUS was getting the right medicine. She would tape strips of paper to the bottle telling him when to take them. She also cleaned his house and helped with laundry, cooking, and bills. She did this after INEZ died because GUS needed help. Then JOYCE "came in the picture," as she says. (T: 206-207, 218-221, 284-286).

DORIS said that GUS had a terrible temper, and he was very tight with money. He would even freeze tea bags to use them another day. (T: 207). GUS was a womanizer. He was going with INEZ while he was married to MARGIE. He ran around with MARGIE when he was married to FLORENCE. It did not matter to GUS that he was married or that the woman he was interested in was married. (T: 201, 207-208). But he stayed married to INEZ for some 40-45 years. (T: 205).

GUS loved to party and dance. He had a large room at his home for such things. He loved to cook at his party room. But, according to DORIS, not so much after INEZ died. (T: 210).

DORIS pointed out that GUS was a bragger. One of the things he bragged about was women coming on to him, even JOYCE'S boyfriend's mother and a married woman in Stone County. (T: 213-216). He was also characterized as being stubborn and strong-willed except with women. "... [W]ith JOYCE it was butter in your mouth. Anything she wanted to do he would do." (T: 217). Up until the relationship with JOYCE began, GUS was strong-willed when it came to parting with his money. He lived off the interest. He never drew the money out. (T: 218). But as seen by the above facts, he gave it all to JOYCE.

DORIS also testified that her brother's health problems included his right eye which caused him to be deferred from military service, his knee which required shots, his heart which required a pacemaker; he also had diabetes, asbestosis, and high blood pressure; he was on medication. (T: 218-219).

After INEZ' death, DORIS said GUS went down hill, acting strange and saying some crazy stuff. He went to Court against INEZ' children trying to take all of the property from them. At Thanksgiving, 2000, he talked about being in the service and storing stuff on some island and if they could get back there, they could all be millionaires. But GUS was never in the service. In fact, he never even went overseas for any military related job. He was classified 4F because of his eye. (T: 279-283).

i

l

DORIS also testified that GUS promised that he would not give his assets away to JOYCE, but she found out that he did and that he had lied to her about that. That he lied to her was so serious to DORIS that she broke off her relationship with him. She knew that if JOYCE left with his assets, she would have to take care of him financially. (T: 298-307).

JAMES MICHAEL TONCREY, SR., was a long time close friend of GUS who knew him since he was 16 and went to school with GUS' sons. That relationship changed after JOYCE and GUS started their relationship. (T: 345-346, 352-353). MIKE testified that GUS was obsessed with a woman if she hugged him or sat on his lap. He would want to do things for them; he would overpower them. (T: 349, 365-367). MIKE said that in the first several months after his wife's death, GUS became very possessive and completely consumed with JOYCE. He would talk for hours on the phone with her. He was jealous and would not let her leave his side. He got upset with MIKE over an incident at MIKE'S house and another incident at a dance, both involving JOYCE. (T: 353-355). He said he thought GUS tried to dominate JOYCE, but he did not dominate her because he met his match with her. (T: 369). He said GUS was stubborn except when it came to women, like JOYCE. He was obsessed with JOYCE. (T: 373-374). But he never said he wanted to take care of JOYCE. He said she was very wealthy and had more money than he did and that she would not even want his money. About a month and a half before he died, GUS wanted MIKE to take him to Florida to the bank to get his money, but JOYCE talked to GUS, GUS told MIKE that everything was fine, and so GUS cancelled the trip. He also said that JOYCE would take care of DORIS, that she would give DORIS \$100,000.00. (T: 358-359, 361, 371, and 374-375). He said GUS needed someone to help him with his health needs, his finances, and his business dealings. INEZ, his wife, did. Then his sister, DORIS, did. Then JOYCE did. (T: 375-377).

PEGGY HOOD was also a long time friend whose relationship with GUS changed after INEZ'S death and after JOYCE came into his life. He became distant, he did not call for long periods of time, he became a different GUS. (T: 222, 229-230). She testified that JOYCE was introduced to her by GUS as the one who was supposed to take care of him. (T: 222-223, 242). After INEZ died, he was lonely, he needed care, he was sick. (T: 227-228). He was mentally

weak after INEZ died, not the same. He went down hill. He was mentally drained because he lost his wife. He was just as mentally drained in January, 2001, as he was in August, 2000. (T: 238-240). PEGGY also said GUS was just an old man and if a girl paid him any attention, he loved it. (T: 243).

CLELL ROSETTI was in grade school when he met GUS. GUS used to help his father. (T: 244-245). GUS came around CLELL'S business regularly. After JOYCE, he just did not see GUS. He did not come around any more. (T: 246). He testified that GUS introduced JOYCE to him as a friend of his who was taking care of him, that she took care of him well. (T: 245-246). He also said that the last few times he saw him after INEZ died, he was slipping big time both physically and mentally. (T: 248-249).

GILBERT REAUX (mistakenly spelled "RAIL" in the transcript), GUS' long time friend and barber, testified that GUS changed a lot and became so jealous because of JOYCE that he began "shedding" himself of his friends. He said GUS took losing INEZ very bad and acted solemn, even cried. He was different after INEZ died. He went to doctors more. GUS introduced JOYCE to GILBERT as his "girl help" a few months after INEZ died, saying she treats me like a king. (T: 252-255, 262). GUS told GILBERT that he was going to give his sister \$100,000.00, but that he could not do anything. He said he did not have anything to do with it. (T: 258).

RAY MITCHELL testified that GUS had a temper and that in GUS' mind, the ladies were attracted to him. GUS even made RAY'S wife uncomfortable when he was working on RAY'S house. He also said GUS was in poor health. (T: 266-267, 274, 276). Regarding JOYCE, RAY said that GUS commented that she was taking care of him and that she was a fine Christian person who GUS could hear praying from one end of the house to the other. (T: 272-273).

GUS sold his house in October, 2003. CHARLES PRINGLE handled the closing. Even then, almost 3 years after the inter vivos transfers and the new Will leaving everything to JOYCE, GUS identified her to CHUCK as his caregiver and the person who was moving him to Florida. JOYCE brought GUS to CHUCK'S office. At that time, GUS was not in good physical condition. CHUCK said, "He was not in a wheelchair, but was probably not far from needing one." "It was very difficult for him to get around." (T: 165-166, 168).

FRED LUSK, the attorney who prepared the contested Will was called by JOYCE, but he testified that GUS did not even know how to spell JOYCE'S last name. A guess was made, but the guess was wrong. It was spelled "LOWE" first and had to be changed later to "LOEW". According to MIKE, this made JOYCE very upset. (T: 357). FRED also said he did not know whether or not GUS was under any undue influence by anyone. (T: 410-411). GUS told FRED that JOYCE was a very good friend. (T: 419). FRED admitted that he did not ask GUS about appraisals of property he owned or whether GUS had spoken to a CPA or estate planner or banker or financial planner. (T: 420-421). FRED said he did the Power of Attorney for GUS. (E: 15; T: 422-423). FRED said he did not think GUS and JOYCE fit together, that he was much older, unattractive, and rough. JOYCE was much younger, refined, polished, that she knew more than he knew. He said that GUS was not up to her level. (T: 425).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

JOYCE C. LOEW and GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH, deceased, were in a confidential relationship at the time inter vivos gifts of a substantial amount were made by him to her. Clear and convincing evidence of that fact was presented. GUS trusted JOYCE completely, and he depended on her. GUS was taken care of by JOYCE. He introduced her to all of his friends as the one who takes care of him. They maintained a close relationship. She provided him some transportation and medical care, picking up where GUS' sister, DORIS, left off. He made her joint on his accounts. He was physically weak suffering from various ailments. He was mentally weak following the death of his wife of some 40-45 years to the extent that he did not care whether he lived or not. He was 84 years of age. He was only five (5) months into a relationship with JOYCE, 25 years younger than he, and about a month or two after his wife died when he began turning everything he owned over to her. He was in poor health. He gave JOYCE a Power of Attorney a year after he began putting her name on all of his financial Because of the confidential relationship, the inter vivos gifts are automatically holdings. presumed to have been given under undue influence and are void and must be returned unless the presumption is rebutted by clear and convincing evidence, and it was not.

The acts and actions of JOYCE amounted to suspicious circumstances and an abuse of the confidential relationship voiding the purported Will done in 2001. These acts and actions included her name being placed on his savings account on Friday, a withdrawal of most all of the savings on Monday, her name being placed on his \$25,000.00 certificate of deposit and his \$125,000.00 certificate of deposit on Tuesday, all prior to the purported Will being signed on Wednesday. Her actions are considered to be undue influence automatically with regard to the inter vivos gifts. The undue influence continued under these suspicious circumstances when he signed the purported Will the next day. She was carrying out a systematic pattern to get all of his property, and she did. Since five (5), and eventually all seven (7), of the factors used to determine a confidential relationship were met, the presumption of undue influence arose, it was abused, and the presumption was not rebutted.

1

i

The only issues before the Court were the validity of the inter vivos gifts to JOYCE from GUS and devisavit vel non, will or no will, as regards the Will of 2001. These are the only issues that the Court can rule on. It was beyond the scope of inquiry and of the pleadings if not addressed therein. Whether DORIS was in a confidential relationship with GUS was not at issue because it was not pled and not a proper issue before the Court.

GENEVA GROSS, JOYCE'S sister, was not disclosed upon request by DORIS' interrogatory for the names of all occurrence witnesses. Therefore, her testimony, which was proffered, should not be accepted by the Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1.

# DID A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP EXIST BETWEEN JOYCE C. LOEW AND GUS SAMUEL CASPELICH?

It has been long held by this Court that a confidential relationship does not have to be a legal relationship. It may be moral, domestic, or personal. A confidential relationship arises when a dominant, over-mastering influence controls a dependent person or when trust is justifiably reposed. <u>Murray v. Laird</u>, 446 So.2d 575, 578 (Miss. 1984). It has also been stated this way:

"Whenever there is a relation between two people in which one person is in a position to exercise a dominant influence upon the other because of the latter's dependency upon the former, arising either from weakness of mind or body, *or through trust*, the law does not hesitate to characterize such relationship as fiduciary in character." <u>Madden v. Rhodes</u>, 626 So.2d 608, 617 (Miss. 1993), citing <u>Hendricks v. James</u>, 421 So.2d 1031, 1041 (Miss. 1982).

This Court in Madden places an emphasis on the dependency factor, i.e. the trust factor.

Madden at 617. The Madden case also cites In Re Will and Estate of Varvaris, 477 So.2d 273

(Miss. 1985), in which it was stated,

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