DOCKET NO. 2007-CA-01633

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DORIS FRAZIER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

JOYCE C. LOEW

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE, JOYCE LOEW

MARTHA CARSON, MSB: Lead Counsel for Appellee P.O. Box 2875 Gulfport, MS 39505 228-868-5844 (office) 228-214-2243 (facsimile) mdgcarson@gmail.com

WALTER L. NIXON, JR., MSB Co-counsel for Appellee 993 Howard Ave. Post Office Box 409 Biloxi, Ms 39533 228-435-7733 228-435-7737 (fax) wnixonjr@bellsouth.net

DOCKET NO. 2007-CA-01633

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

17. There is no dispute that Appellant Doris Frazier, Gus Caspelich's sister, was in a confidential relationship with her brother after his wife Inez died. [Brief of Appellant, 30] Doris Frazier argues that her confidential relationship with Caspelich is irrelevant to the instant Will that is the subject of this

appeal. Frazier disowned Caspelich three (3) years prior to his death and never saw him or spoke to him again, but she never disowned his assets. The evidence was clear, as the chancellor found in his Judgment, in January of 2000 Caspelich was dependent on his sister Frazier, who was in control of her brother's medicines and finances when he was terribly depressed after the death of his wife.

- 18. Doris Frazier argues that her confidential relationship, her abandonment of the relationship and her brother's termination of the confidential nature of the relationship are irrelevant and that the termination of the relationship was caused by Caspelich entering into a confidential relationship with Appellee Joyce Loew. The chancellor did not find that Loew ever dominated or tried to dominate Cospelich and could not in equity, make such a finding as no such evidence was presented to the court. Appellant Frazier put on an abundance of evidence that she did and continued to dominate Caspelich, to the point of disowning him when he acted independently. It would be the height of inequity for the chancery court, a court of equity, to nullify the stated intentions of a competent person, dominant in the relationship as Caspelich was with Loew, and for the court to require assets disposed of by *intervivos* gift and by a subsequent valid will be disbursed to another person who had no relationship at all for the final three (3) years of the deceased's life.
- 19. The issue on cross appeal before this Court is whether the litigation by Doris Frazier is frivolous even malicious and whether the Chancellor, given his final ruling and findings of fact, improvidently refused to consider awarding Joyce Loew attorneys' fees, relinquishing any security therefore, while requiring the Deed of Trust to the Clerk of Chancery Court on Joyce Loew's home in Georgia.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

20. As the Mississippi Supreme Court reasoned in <u>McNeil v. Hester</u> this Court considers decisions of chancellors under a limited standard of review. (753 So. 2d 1057, 1063 (¶21) (Miss. 2000)) The

chancellor in the case now before this Court entered a well reasoned, nine (9) page Judgment Granting Involuntary Dismissal [R 107-115] and included in his judgment specific findings of facts which provided the basis for his conclusions on the law. "The chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based on the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony." Volmer v. Volmer, 832 So. 2d 615, 621-22 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (quoting Fisher v. Fisher, 771 So. 2d 364, 367 (98) (Miss. 2000)). In addition to being the fact-finder, the chancellor is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses when resolving discrepancies in a witness's testimony. Murphy v. Murphy, 631 So. 2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1994), and the chancellor's findings will not be disturbed unless this Court finds that they were made in manifest error or clearly erroneous. Richardson v. Cornes, 903 So. 2d 51, 56 (¶18) (Miss. 2005); Sanderson v. Sanderson, 824 So.2d 623, 625(¶ 8) (Miss. 2002). As the Court reasoned in Volmer, "where the record contains substantial credible evidence to support the chancellor's findings, we will defer to them." (832 So. 2d at 622 (\quad 21). In other words, [t]his Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial credible evidence unless the chancellor abused his or her discretion was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Sanderson, at 625-26(¶ 8). Errors of law are reviewed de novo. Cooper v. Crabb, 587 So. 2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1991) The Appellant failed to address the standard of review under which she seeks review, choosing instead to reargue her case in a shotgun manner hoping that something sticks.

- I. ISSUE: DORIS FRAZIER'S APPEAL DOES NOT ADDRESS THE LACK OF EVIDENCE OF A CONFIDENTIAL REALTIONSHIP WHICH WOULD GIVE RISE TO THE PRESUMPTION FOR WHICH SHE ARGUES, WHICH THE CHANCELLOR IN HIS WELL REASONED OPINION FOUND DID NOT EXIST IN THIS CASE
- 21. As has been the law in this state for years and as the Court of Appeals reiterated in *In the Matter* of the Estate of Pope, 2008 MS LW080521176; "[t]he party asserting the existence of a confidential relationship bears the burden of proving it by clear and convincing evidence." Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515

- So. 2d 1183, 1191-92 (Miss. 1987). The Appellant's brief does not address the lack of evidence of a confidential relationship existing between the deceased, Gus Caspelich, and the Appellee, Joyce Loew, which would give rise to the presumption for which she argues, which the chancellor in his well reasoned opinion and findings of facts determined did not exist in this case.
- 22. The facts developed at the hearing on this matter clearly established that the testator, Gus Caspelich, was the dominant member of the relationship he enjoyed with Appellee Loew, the beneficiary to his will which is the subject of this appeal. He made his own decisions including the decision to have the Will that is before this Court made. Appellant Frazier swore that "common sense" told her there was no sexual relationship between Caspelich and Loew; he was an old man. [T 325-326] She testified that, to her knowledge, Caspelich never had any mental condition and she never saw Loew make Caspelich do anything he didn't want to do. [T 328] Frazier warned Loew to be careful of Caspelich because he had a "bad temper." [T 328] The clear inference could only be that Frazier expected her brother to dominate Loew, which the lower court found to be the case, consistent with the testimony of Appellant's own witnesses.
- 23. The only evidence of a confidential relationship was the relationship that Appellant Fraizer once knew with her brother, Gus Cospelich. After the death of his wife, Inez, Caspelich was depressed and relied on Frazier. Appellant Frazier testified that she "hired" the attorney, David Wheeler, to prepare a will for Caspelich in August of 2000. The testimony showed that Wheeler had never done work for Caspelich [T 320] before Frazier drove Caspelich to the Wheeler's office and she was *physically present* when Caspelich published his will. [T 321] Frazier swore that Caspelich "gave" her the original will either going out the door or after they got to the sidewalk, and that she signed one of Caspelich's checks for One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) to pay Mr. Wheeler for his services. When confronted with a document from Bancorp South containing photocopies of the cleared checks on Gus Caspelich's account

and when directed to check number 171 [E 27; LER 36], she admitted that the check was in her own hand. When asked about the memo line on check 171 which indicates reimbursement to herself 500.00 lawyer 229.00 insurance on car" Frazier insisted that the Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) was for house insurance and not for attorney services.

24. Frazier's testimony at the hearing contained inconsistencies. Frazier insisted that "Gus was fine until he met Loew. That's when he started going downhill" [T 322] but when asked whether there was any change in Caspelich between the time of August 21 of 2000 and when he executed a will in favor of Joyce Loew, Frazier responded "I don't remember." [T 323] When Frazier was asked if she knew any of the circumstances surrounding his [Caspelich's] execution surrounding the execution of the 2001 will Frazier responded: "No." [T 324] Then she recalled that Mike Toncrey, Caspelich's longtime friend, had been present.

II. ISSUE: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLEE HAD NO UNDUE INFLUENCE OVER CASPELICH

25. On the separate issue of whether the Appellee had any undue influence over Caspelich which caused him to execute the January 2001 Will that left everything to Appellee Loew, the chancery court found that there was no evidence offered to show that Loew participated in the making of that document. It is well established law in this state that "[a] presumption of undue influence arises 'where a confidential relation exists between a testator and a beneficiary under his will, and the beneficiary has been actively concerned in some way with the preparation or execution of it . . .'" (emphasis added) See In the Matter of the Estate of Pope, 2008 MS - lw080521176 citing Croft v. Alder, 237 Miss. 713, 722-23, 115 So. 2d 683, 686 (1959); see also, Smith v. Averill, 722 So. 2d 606, 612 (¶18) (Miss. 1998) 26. Undue influence is a question of fact. Watkins v. Watkins, 142 Miss. 210, 229, 106 So. 753, 755 (1926). As the chancellor pointed out in his well-reasoned nine (9) page opinion, there were two issues

in the instant case — each issue with a separate and distinct rule of law. A confidential relationship

exists when there is a dependency by a weaker individual on another. At page 6 of his opinion, the Chancellor quoted *Madden v. Rhodes*, 626 So. 2d 608, 609 (Miss. 1993):

Whenever there is a relation between two people in which one person is in a position to exercise a dominant influence upon the other because of the latter's dependency upon the former, arising either from weakness of mind or body, or through trust, the law does not hesitate to characterize such relationship as fiduciary in character. Hendricks v. James, 421 So. 2d 1031, 1041 (Miss. 1982) (emphasis added)

The dependency factor was emphasized again when we stated, '[I]n determining whether or not a fiduciary or confidential relationship existed between two persons, we have looked to see if one depends upon another.' In re Will and Estate of Varvaris, 477 So.2d 273, 278 (Miss. 1985)

[R 112; LER 17]

The Court found that Doris Frazier 'failed to carry her burden' of proving a confidential relationship between Gus Caspelich and Joyce Loew at the time he transferred assets to Loew; no proof was presented that Caspelich depended on Loew for medical or financial decisions or placed any special trust in her. The Court agreed with every witness who testified that Caspelich was strong-willed and independent and the Court found that Caspelich acted independently in doing as he wished in making transfers to Loew. [R 113; LER 18] Doris Frazier's appeal does not address the issue of the evidence that was lacking, but she would argue to the Court that the mere recital of the factors enumerated in <u>Madden v. Rhodes</u> creates an "automatic presumption" even if there was no evidence that Caspelich depended on Loew.

27. On the separate issue of the Caspelich's Will, the Court found no evidence presented to show Joyce Loew participated in the making of that document and was not aware that it was being executed. She was not in the State of Mississippi, Caspelich was advised by an attorney of his choosing, and he acted entirely independently. The test of "undue influence" of a will is different from *intervivos* transfers — participation in the execution of the will is required.

First, we consider whether there was substantial credible evidence that the Parkers acted in good faith. To determine this element, we must examine five factors: (1) who sought the preparation of the deed, (2) where and in whose presence was the deed executed, (3) what was the fee that was paid to execute the deed, (4) who paid the fee, and (5) was the deed executed openly or secretly. Rogers v. Pleasant, 729 So.2d 192, 194 (¶¶ 8-11) (Miss.1998).

The Appellant Doris Frazier would seek to reverse long standing law and allow the mere recital of factors enumerated in <u>Madden v. Rhodes</u> -with nothing more- to create an "automatic presumption" of invalidity of wills, even when her case in chief showed independent legal advice and admitted testamentary capacity.

- 28. The evidence adduced at the hearing clearly established that Joyce Loew was not in Mississippi at the time the January 24, 2001, will was executed and that Caspelich used the services of an attorney of his choosing to prepare the will and that he acted independently. Cospelich's attorney that drew up the 2001 will, Fred Lusk, specifically asked for and was provided a statement from a medical provider that Caspelich was of sound mind before he allowed Caspelich to execute the will. That documentation was provided to Lusk on a sheet from a prescription pad written and signed by Dr. Paul Pavlov, attesting to Caspelich's mental capacity [R 19; E 2; LER 31]
- 29. James M. "Mike" Toncrey was called as a witness by the Appellant and testified that he recommend that Caspelich use his attorney, Fred Lusk. [T 370] He also testified that he went with Caspelich to Fred Lusk's office and tried to talk Caspelich into not changing his previous will. Toncrey also testified that the Appellee, Joyce Loew was definitely not present in Mr. Lusk's office and had no participation in the preparation of Caspelich's will. [T 345-374]
- 30. The undisputed evidence is that Joyce Loew was not present when Caspelich executed the contested January 2001 Will and that Caspelich acted independently, obtaining his own attorney, ignoring the advice of his close friend and after having consulted with a physician, at the insistence of his attorney, Fred Lusk, who found him mentally sound and capable.

- 31. At trial, the proponents of a will carry the burden of proof, which was met in this case by the offering and receipt into evidence of the will and the record of its probate, and thus a prima facie case was made by the proponent Appellee solely by this proof. *Harris v. Sellers*, 446 So. 2d 1012, 1014 (Miss. 1984) (overruled in part on other grounds) The burden of incapacity shifts to the contestants who must overcome the prima facie case. *In re Estate of Edwards*, 520 So 2d 1370, 1373 (Miss. 1988). In the case now before this Court no evidence of incapacity was offered by the Appellant, more importantly, the Appellant stipulated that no claim of incapacity was being argued.
- 32. In neither will was there any property left to natural heirs, the sons of Gus Caspelich. The August of 2000 Will prepared by David Wheeler, in favor of Appellant Doris Frazier was clearly the product of "undue influence" because Frazier actively participated in the making of the will. The will in question, the Will of January 24, 2001, in favor of Joyce Loew, was executed at a time and place when Appellee Joyce Loew was not present and had no participation. Doris Frazier's theory is that, once the valid will of Caspelich to Loew is set aside, then the invalid will in favor of Frazier would be probated and Frazier would receive not only the assets of the estate, but those intervivos gifts that were transferred three years before Caspelich's death. It is evident that the chancellor improvidently issued the Temporary Restraining Order, the Preliminary Injunction, and the post Judgment Order that froze, and continues to freeze, assets transferred to Loew three years prior to Caspelich's death.

III. ISSUE: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES TO JOYCE LOEW

32. On January 23, 2007, Joyce Loew filed a Motion for Sanctions and set the matter for hearing. The lower court has consistently refused to rule on the Motion and, on Appeal the Appellee asks this Court to award her the requested attorneys' fees.

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